ANOTHER LOOK

“BUILDING 88”: THE BARRACKS
AT FORT NIAGARA STATE PARK
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the end of World War II, however, plans were afoot to transfer the post
to the State of New York for use as a park. The Korean War intervened
and many of the “new” fort’s-buildings were again put to use. The Army

relinquished control of the fort for the last time in the early 1960s.

One of the last “permanent” structures built as part of the fort’s
pre-WWII expansion beyond its 18th century walls was a brick, 250-man
barracks. Placed at the southeastern end of the main line of barracks build-
ings, this barracks faced the Niagara River, with its back looking over the
post’s magnificent 1000-yard rifle range. Completed in 1939, the barracks

— labeled “Building 88” in the Army’s local parlance — utilized
WPA labor in its construction, working under the direction of
the Army Corps of Engineers.

Building 88 consists of two main floors, a basement and attic.
On the two main floors, it is divided in half by a substantial wall
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Plan showing the first floor layout of the 250-man barracks building, built at

W

Fort Niagara in 1938-39.
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ABOVE: The lineup of barracks buildings at Fort Niagara, ¢. 1930s. Building 88 is located just into the oak grove in the far distance.
PRIVATE COLLECTION

BELOW: Plan showing the layout of “new” Fort Niagara in 1963, when the U.S. Army turned over the facility to the State of New York for the last
time. Building 88 is indicated near the left center of the image. Note that it is divided into “Nerth” and “South” components, as are many of the
buildings. The large rifle range shown in the plan has been converted to soccer fields.
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originally contained a squad room at the
extreme end, designed to accommodate
48 men. Also included were quarters for
cooks, non-commissioned officers and a
single commissioned officer, as well as a
day room, toilet and shower facilities.
The second floor was similarly
appointed. Instead of the day room,
however, this floor featured a second
squad room, designed to hold 15 men.
Likewise, the commissioned officer’s
room was replaced by a tailor’s shop. A
porch runs the length of the building’s
front, on both the first and second floors,
between squad rooms at the extreme
ends. The basement level of each division
contained kitchen and dining facilities,
as well as a number of storage spaces. A
large boiler room was centrally located
and served the entire structure.

From the 1920s until 1940, Fort
Niagara was home to the 28th Infantry
Regiment, which had earned fame as the
spearhead of the 1st Infantry Division’s
attack at Cantigny during World War I.
Though the Army pulled out of the fort
in the late 1940s, the buildings were uti-
lized again during the Korean War and
beyond. This time Building 88 was
inhabited by the U.S. Navy, which used
the building as an induction, intelligence
and training center. The Navy continued
to use the building until the early 1960s
when the “new” fort was again turned
over to New York State. Today the build-
ing is still known to many locals as the
“Navy Building”

Shortly after the military’s departure,
many of the buildings of “new” Fort
Niagara were demolished. Building 88
survived, however, and saw a different
kind of resident during the late 1970s,
when it was home to Camp Niagara of
the Young Adult Conservation Corps.
This federally-funded program existed
from 1977-1982 and, at its peak, main-
tained 25,000 positions for youths aged
16-23 nationwide. The year-round
program was designed to complete back-
logs of high-priority work that had been
identified at the state and federal level.
Since the early 1980s, the barracks build-
ing has been devoid of permanent
residents, though it is used for storage and

as a workshop for the New York State
Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic
Preservation.

As more recent military structures go,
Building 88 is an aesthetically pleasing
one, located in the bucolic setting of what
is now Fort Niagara State Park in
Youngstown. Though showing signs of
its age and various inhabitants, both
inside and out, the building is still in
remarkably good condition and retains
many of its original features and hardware.
It is one among a handful of U.S. Army-
vintage buildings still dotting the state
park’s landscape and recalling the days of
the pre-WWII “Old Army” Others
include the former-commandant and
second-in-command’s residence, the
late-1930s Officers’ Club, a 4-bay storage
warehouse and the Post Theater, in
addition to maintenance facilities and
other smaller structures.

Over the years, there have been a
number of proposals for the adaptive
reuse of the barracks building, as well as
a number of the others. In 2006, the

4-bay warechouse was opened as a visitor
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This interior view of the barracks shows a
portion of one of the original squad rooms.
Several alterations have been made to the
interior layout of the building over the years.

COURTESY NYSOPRHP, DOUGLAS W. DeCROIX
PHOTO

center for Old Fort Niagara and several
of the other buildings are being used in a
variety of ways. Plans for the barracks
itself have centered on possible reuse as a
conference facility and hotel. These plans
have also historically called for a restored
complex that would include the theater
and commandant’s quarters nearby.
Previous proposals have foundered
for various reasons. It is possible, how-

A portion of the second floor toilet and shower
facility. Despite the building's age, it retains
many of its original features and fittings,
including this row of sinks.
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ever, that a more recent proposal for the
adaptive reuse of these three structures
may well succeed. Due to their historic
significance, such reuse would have to
maintain the historic integrity of these
structures, while making appropriate
alterations and upgrades so that they
might live again. For years, the former
rifle range has echoed to the sounds of
soccer players, and the former streets

The northwestern dining room in the base-
ment of the barracks. A portion of one of the
kitchens is just visible through the door at the
rear. The wall paint dates from the building’s
use by the Young Adult Conservation Corps.
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and parade grounds have been the scenes
of picnics, bike rides and dog walks.
All this while the last structural vestiges
of its military past have stood by as
mute witnesses. Should the latest pro-
posal succeed, perhaps these precious
buildings will once again resonate with
the sounds of human occupancy; finding
new life while preserving this important

period in the history of the site. K
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